NAME: Rosemary Kakonzi Mwangangi

COURSE: CAS in Juvenile Justice

UNIVERSITY: University of Geneva

WORD COUNT (55,686 with spaces)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract

l.	Introduction	4
II.	The concept of Juvenile Delinquency	4
III.	The concept of family	6
IV.	The role of the family in child development	7
V.	The impact of different family structures on the development of child character	9
VI.	The role of child development in character determination	.12
VII.	Family factors influencing delinquency	.14
VIII.	Non family factors impacting on juvenile delinquency	.16
IX.	Conclusions	.18
X	Recommendations	.19
XI.	Bibliography	.19
Appendix 1 International Instruments for Protecting the Rights of Children in Conflict with the		
Law		.25

"The best interest of the child have no nationality, there is need to overcome the challenges in the application of restorative justice to children in all contexts, especially in their family environment" Blanca Olga Ferri

Abstract

Juvenile delinquency denotes a variety of violations of legal and social norms, ranging from minor to serious offenses. The family has been seen to be a critical element for child development and as a determining factor for children's subsequent involvement in crime. The term 'family' bears a variety of definitions, because families vary greatly in their sizes and constituent parts. The type of family in which a child is raised plays an important role in shaping a child, because families provide children with security and develop their values, skills and ability to play a role in society.

There are several notable family-related factors that impact on child crime. These include parental attitudes, the degree of family cohesion, physical violence, and uninvolved parenting. There are also non-family factors that impact on juvenile delinquency, which include the failure of the juvenile justice system, poverty, a lack of access to education, drug abuse and genetic problems.

Keywords: Juvenile delinquency, family, family structures, character change, child development, social cohesiveness, emotional skills, marriage, criminal acts, antisocial behaviour.

I. Introduction

The family has been seen to be a critical element for child development and as a determining factor for children's subsequent involvement in crime. ¹This paper seeks to explore the

¹ Loeber and Loeber-Stouthammer Family Factors as Correlates and Predictors of Juvenile Conduct Problems and Delinquency (From Crime and Justice, v 7, P 29-149, 1986

relationship between various family-related factors and crime. It also attempts to ascertain whether these factors can act as causative agents for 'juvenile delinquency' or whether this is caused by the interaction between the family and other external factors.

II. The concept of Juvenile Delinquency

The concept of 'juvenile delinquency' can be understood from different theoretical standpoints.² While sociologists believe that 'juvenile delinquency' encompasses a variety of violations of legal and social norms, ranging from minor to serious offenses,³ criminologists view 'juvenile delinquency' as entailing all the public wrongs committed by those between the ages of 12 and 20.⁴

Sociologists assert that antisocial behavior may be the expression of either the beginning of a long term culture of criminal activity or a normal part of the process of growing up.⁵

The United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency do not classify antisocial conduct or youthful behavior as 'juvenile delinquency' or conduct that could lead to future criminal tendencies.⁶ Instead, these guidelines are clear that such behavior is often part of the process of growth and maturation and tends to disappear spontaneously in most individuals during the transition to adulthood. The United Nations note that there is a common tendency for

² World Youth Report *Juvenile Delinquency* (2003) http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/ch07.pdf >accessed 3 August 2018

³ David Zembrosk *Sociological Theories of Crime*, 2011

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5f27/920a8cc1103a950d33e95b64b1a09e98dee0.pdf accessed 3 August 2018

⁴ Zipporah Wangeci *Factors Influencing Juvenile Delinquency at Eldoret Juvenile Remand Home , Kenya*, 2017, http://ir.mu.ac.ke:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/832/Rwengo%2C%20Zipporah Factors%20%20Influencing%20Juvenile%20Delinquency%20at%20Eldoret%20Juvenile%20Remand%20Home%2C%20Kenya.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y;accessed 3 August 2018

⁵ Anthony Petrosino, James Derzon, Julia Lavenberg *The role of the family in Crime and Delinquency: evidence from Prior Quantitative reviews*, 2011

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2623/77e9c296f552b7c958c280620a52fa3bdb60.pdf accessed 3 August 2018 > accessed 3 August 2018

⁶ United Nations General Assembly *Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (Riyadh Guidelines)*, 1990 https://www.crin.org/en/docs/resources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesforthePreventionofJuvenileDelinquency.pdf; accessed 3 August 2018

young people to commit some kind of petty offence at some point during their adolescence, without them subsequently turning into career criminals. Similarly, the World Youth Report of 2003 recognizes that child delinquency is a common phenomenon during the transition from childhood to adulthood.⁷

The UN found that juvenile delinquency is largely a group phenomenon, as between two thirds and three quarters of all juvenile offences were found to have been committed by young people who belonged to groups such as gangs. In the Russian Federation, criminal activity among juveniles in groups was found to be higher than that of adult offenders. This tendency for juveniles to indulge in criminal activity while belonging to groups can be traced to the fact that juvenile peer groups have certain unique characteristics, such as hierarchical organization, high levels of social cohesiveness, and a code of behavior that is based upon a common rejection of the values and experiences of adults. Delinquent or criminal behavior is caused by certain groups and juvenile subcultures (subcultures of violence) that tend to use violence and aggression as an acceptable and even preferable means of solving interpersonal conflicts.

III. The concept of family

The concept of family has received a variety of definitions, 12 because families vary greatly in their sizes and constituent parts. These various types of family accomplish different things for their

⁷ World Youth Report *Juvenile Delinquency* (2003) http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/ch07.pdf accessed 3 August 2018

⁸ UN Fact Sheet on Juvenile Justice (undated)

http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/wyr11/FactSheetonYouthandJuvenileJustice.pdf, accessed 3 August 2018

⁹ World Youth Report *Juvenile Delinquency* (2003), http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/ch07.pdf, accessed 3 August 2018

¹⁰ Felson, R B., et al. "The Subculture of Violence and Delinquency: Individual vs. School Context Effects." (1994) 73(1) *Social Forces* 155–173 (online), www.jstor.org/stable/2579921, accessed 3 August 2018 ¹¹ Id

¹² Wisconsin Family Impact Seminars, https://www.purdue.edu/hhs/hdfs/fii/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/s wifis01c02.pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

family members. ¹³ The Population Reference Bureau defines a family as a group of people held together by common birth, marriage, residence, close emotional attachment or adoption¹⁴, while for Desai a family means a unit of two or more persons united by blood, marriage, adoption or consensual union who interact and communicate with each other. ¹⁵ Families may also include people with common ancestors, as part of a lineage, clan or tribe. ¹⁶ UNESCO broadly defines a family as being a social reality, although the kinship unit and members do not have to share a common household. ¹⁷

Although there are a number of differences in the types of families found in the world, they have certain things in common. For example, families serve several important functions within society, including socialization, economic support, nurturing, protection of vulnerable members, and perpetuating the family grouping. In general, despite differences between cultures, families serve the three basic goals of economic self-sufficiency, improving family circumstances and perpetuating their existence.

The traditional concept of family includes responsibilities and functions such as intimacy and affection, security, childbearing and child-rearing.²⁰ Traditional family tasks include assigning

2018

¹³ Libby Gordon Families: Basic Concepts, 2003, http://www.d.umn.edu/~dfalk/hbse/matrix/famconcepts.pdf accessed 29 August, 2018

¹⁴ Citation: Enrique, J., Howk, H., & Huitt, W. 'An overview of family development' (2007) Educational Psychology Interactive. Valdosta, GA: Valdosta State University, http://www.edpsycinteractive.org/papers/family.pdf accessed 29 August, 2018

¹⁵Desai (1994) cited in - Rahul Sharma *The Family and Family Structure Classification Redefined for the Current Times,* 2013, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4649868/, accessed 29 August, 2018

¹⁶ KINSHIP & FAMILY, https://web.mnstate.edu/robertsb/380/Kinship%20&%20family.pdf, accessed 29 August,

¹⁷ UNESCO The changing family in Asia: Bangladesh, India, Japan, Philippines and Thailand, 1992

¹⁸ Office for National Statistics *Families*, 2005

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiAjZ 6x6 HdAhXiyYUKHb6fDN8QFjAEegQIBhAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ons.gov.uk%2Fons%2Frel%2Ffamily-demography%2Ffocus-on-families%2F2005%2Ffocus-on-families-2005-summary-report.pdf&usg=AOvVaw18FrczKa8M6Tramp4lDp7T, accessed 29 August, 2018

¹⁹ Joän M. Patterson 'Understanding family resilience' (2002) 58(3) Journal of Clinical Psychology https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jclp.10019, accessed 29 August, 2018

²⁰Suzanne K. Steinmetz & Karen F. Stein 'Traditional and Emerging Families A Typologr Based on Structures and Functions' (1998) Family Science Review

roles, assuring social interaction between family members, providing physical care, allocating resources, maintaining morale and motivation and relating to external society and its institutions. Increasing rates of divorce and remarriage have led to the emergence of reconstituted families (stepfamilies), which represent households containing a child or children who are biologically related to only one of the adults.²¹ Changes in the social environment often require adaptations in family structure and functioning.

IV. The role of the family in child development

Child development has emotional, intellectual, social and physical aspects, with the family being the foundation upon which this development occurs. ²² The family structure plays an important role in shaping a child by providing security and developing their, values and skills.

a) Security

Children rely on the family for their basic needs, such as clothing, shelter and food, with their family providing their primary sense of physical security. ²³ They also get emotional security from the family that can find nowhere else, allowing children to grow in confidence and be able to express themselves fully. ²⁴ Giving children a stable home routine also enables them to feel secure, as they know they will eat, drink, bathe, and sleep at certain times without being disturbed.²⁵ The different committee have also been established such as; Committee on the

http://www.familyscienceassociation.org/sites/default/files/Vol%201%20No%202%20Article%202.PDF > accessed 29 August, 2018

²¹ Libby Gordon *Families: Basic Concepts, 2003*, http://www.d.umn.edu/~dfalk/hbse/matrix/famconcepts.pdf accessed 29 August, 2018

²²Children's Bureau 'The Role of Family in Child Development', https://www.all4kids.org/2017/12/11/role-family-child-development/, accessed 29 August, 2018

²³ Gennetian, Lisa A., Nina Castells, and Pamela Morris, "Meeting the Basic Needs of Children: Does Income Matter?" (2010) Children and youth services review

 $https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2913899/pdf/nihms194604.pdf > accessed \ 29 \ August, \ 2018 \ August, \ 2018$

²⁴ Luke LaPort Emotional Security and Attitudes In Children, 2006, https://ll-production-

<u>uploads.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/2017/12/Emotional-Security-and-Attitudes-in-Children.pdf</u> > accessed 29 August, 2018

²⁵Débora Falleiros de Mello et al 'Child safety from the perspective of essential needs' (2014) 22(4) Rev. Latino-Am. Enfermagem, http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rlae/v22n4/0104-1169-rlae-22-04-00604.pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

Rights of the Child, Human Rights Committee, Committee against Torture, Human Rights Commissioner, their advocacy is a sign of security if followed and implemented which is not always the case.

Security for children is a recipe for them to develop their skills and talents, grow physically, and develop cognitively and emotionally.²⁶ Security is also important in building trust between children and family members.²⁷ When children know that they can trust those around them, they feel more comfortable and secure.

b) Values

The family plays an important role in inculcating norms and values within children.²⁸ These include an understanding of right and wrong, respect, fairness, compassion and responsibility.²⁹ Children learn these values by observing and emulating their parents behavior, and being taught by their parents. Thus, children learn both the importance of these values and the consequences of not observing them.

c) Skills

The moment children are born, they start learning skills that include cognitive, emotional, interactional and language skills.³⁰ These skills are acquired over time and are very important as they shape a person and improve their ability to fulfill their potential. For example, emotional skills

²⁶T Gabriella Conti & James J. Heckman The Economics of Child Well-Being, 2012 < http://ftp.iza.org/dp6930.pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

²⁷ Gail E. Joseph *Building Positive Relationships with Young Children* http://csefel.vanderbilt.edu/modules/module1/handout5.pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

²⁸ Ntarangwi, Mwenda. "Introduction: Parents' Involvement in Children's Lives in Africa." (2012) 37 (3), Africa Development / Afrique Et Dévelopment, 1–18, www.jstor.org/stable/afrdevafrdev.37.3.1.

²⁹J.Jessy Brinda Mary 'Role of parents in inculcating values' 2016 (1) 2 JARIIE http://ijariie.com/AdminUploadPdf/ROLE OF PARENTS IN INCULCATING VALUES c1264.pdf > accessed 29 August, 2018

³⁰ Guyonne Kalb and Jan C. van Ours *Reading to Young Children: A Head-Start in Life?* 2013 https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=806101124029026113091001008078030077058008019084044001 10900411700711306807207010207500912205403112212010811800609506910109801300808504603808109911 90840711201221240750910600730851130860070640120850980170920830740010290760680750880640881240 77031084125003&EXT=pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

are important for children as they teach them how to deal with life's difficulties and when to have sympathy and compassion for others.³¹ Without emotional skills, children are inclined to engage in destructive choices when they are older. For example, children with low emotional skills are likely to engage in criminal activities.³²

V. The impact of different family structures on the development of child character

i. Married families and child delinquency

According to Wardle, children need a stable marriage between their mother and father to be able to enjoy the best preparation and opportunities for life success and happiness.³³ Marriage has a strong, positive and consistent effect on the wellbeing of children, and appears to play an important role in contributing to their happiness, health and security and thus to accord them optimal life opportunities.³⁴ Hafen views the positive effect of marriage as being the most important causal factor in determining the well-being of children.³⁵

Children with married parents are better placed to avoid some of the 'growing up disasters' associated with adolescence and childhood.³⁶ For example, it has been found that children who are brought up in single-parent households are at a higher risk of experiencing educational and

9

³¹ Pietro Biroli "Health and Skill Formation in Early Childhood" UBS Center Working Paper Series Working Paper No. 17, November 2016

https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=00101312412207607408111102711608311001906205303403900
70740090160780011240960821050940570480190630140270471220290671021261030180120440220000640301
22016096120018092053077041024084095109027107080028114020076001066004107071030004071000006019
080072089094&EXT=pdf, accessed 29 August, 2018

³² Kruttschnitt, Candace, et al. "Abuse-Resistant Youth: Some Factors That May Inhibit Violent Criminal Behavior." *Social Forces*, 1987 (66)2 <www.jstor.org/stable/2578752 > accessed 29 August, 2018

³³ Lynn D. Wardle 'Children and the Future Of Marriage' (2004) 17 REGENT UNIVERSITY LAW REVIEW 280 https://www.regent.edu/acad/schlaw/student-life/studentorgs/lawreview/docs/issues/v17n2/Wardle.pdf; accessed 31 Aug 2018

³⁴ Linda J. Waite, *Does Marriage Matter?* 32 D EMOGRAPHY 483, 497-98 (1995), available at http://www.jstor.org/view/00703370/di973888/97p00046/0.

³⁵ Bruce C. Hafen, Bridle Your Passions: How Modern Law Can Protect the Family, 63 V ITAL S PEECHES, No. 20, at 5 (Aug. 1, 1997).

³⁶WAITE & GALLAGHER, supra note 33, at 124.

behavioral problems, such as a tendency to engage in criminal acts.³⁷ Specifically, it has been noted that the separation of children from their fathers is a major cause of many social problems, including adolescent pregnancy, crime, child sexual abuse and domestic violence.³⁸ The National Report on Juvenile Offenders and Victims provided by The Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention of the U.S Justice Department found that juveniles who lived with both parents were less likely to be engaged in delinquent acts, including sexual violence and drug abuse.³⁹ The Report found that only 5% of youths who lived with both parents engaged in delinquent acts, as opposed to 12% of youths who lived in other family arrangements. A similar report in 2010 found that 45% of youths who were in custody for delinquent acts were from single-parent families, while 30% were from two-parent families.⁴⁰

Raising children with both parents has thus proved to be beneficial in developing emotional health and increasing the likelihood of academic success including college attendance.⁴¹ Consequently, the remarkable increases in divorce and family break-ups since the 1970's has led to significant family instability and decreasing parental investment in children. This has had an adverse impact on the character development of children and increased the likelihood of their involvement in delinquent acts.

ii. Divorced families and juvenile delinquency

³⁷ Urie Bronfenbrenner, Discovering what families can do, *in* REBUILDING THE NEST: A NEW COMMITMENT TO THE AMERICAN FAMILY (1990) 34

³⁸ David Blankenhorn Fatherless America: Confronting our most urgent Social Problem (1995) 1

³⁹Howard N. Snyder & Melissa Sickmund *Juvenile Offenders and Victims: 2006 National Report* https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED495786.pdf; accessed 1 September 2018

⁴⁰ Jennifer Flood Eastin *Impact Of Absent Father-Figures On Male Subjects And The Correlation To Juvenile Delinquency: Findings And Implications,* 2003 <

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2668/4818350e43e37d63e64d2930e0444b32f888.pdf > accessed 1 Sept. 2018. 41 id

Parental divorce has been cited as a consistent predictor of juvenile delinquency and a major parent-related risk factor for criminal development in childhood and adolescence, ⁴² leading to increased criminal convictions and antisocial behavior. ⁴³ Disciplinary and behavioral issues have been studied from many theoretical perspectives, including the emotional distress that derives from parental divorce. ⁴⁴It appears that children from one-parent families are more likely to be unemployed, drop out of school, have lower psychological well-being and engage in sexual violence than children from two-parent families. ⁴⁵ The transition from a two-parent to a single-parent family often results in the loss of economic resources, because there is only one breadwinner in the family, and causes a decrease in child supervision ⁴⁶. Fathers who live in separate households also tend to have less contact with their children, thus undermining commitment and trust.

According to Amato, post-divorce negative outcomes, such as the transfer of children to other schools, can lead to economic hardship, as well as causing the disruption of family structures. 47 Such disruptions have been found to increase poverty and depression, and cause ineffective parenting strategies that in turn lead to high rates of criminal behavior. The correlation between

^{2 -}

⁴² Burt, S. Alexandra et al. "Parental Divorce and Adolescent Delinquency: Ruling out the Impact of Common Genes." (2008) 44[6] *Developmental psychology*, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2593091/accessed 1 Sept. 2018.

⁴³ Steve G.A. van de Weijer et al 'The Effects of Parental Divorce on the Intergenerational Transmission of Crime' (2015) Societies 89–108

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj_6cih8p_ndAhUOTBoKHSg6DAAQFjACegQIBxAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.mdpi.com%2F2075-

^{4698%2}F5%2F1%2F89%2Fpdf&usg=AOvVaw08biczazJOayjnjkPtr06v, accessed 1 Sept. 2018

⁴⁴ Cordell & Cordell 'The Risks of Juvenile Delinquency in Children of Divorce', https://mensdivorce.com/juvenile-delinquency-children/, accessed 1 Sept. 2018

⁴⁵ Steve G.A. van de Weijer et al 'The Effects of Parental Divorce on the Intergenerational Transmission of Crime' (2015) Societies 89–108

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj 6cih8p ndAhUOTBoKHSg6DAAQFjACegQIBxAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.mdpi.com%2F2075-4698%2F5%2F1%2F89%2Fpdf&usg=AOvVaw08biczazJOayjnjkPtr06v> accessed 1 Sept. 2018

⁴⁶ McLanahan, S.; Sandefur, G. *Growing up with a Single Parent: What Hurts, What Helps*; Harvard University Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 1994.

⁴⁷ Amato, P.R. The consequences of divorce for adults and children., J. Marriage Fam. 2000, 62, 1269–1287.

divorce and delinquency has been disputed by Capaldi and Patterson, however, who believe that delinquency can be due to some mothers having antisocial personalities. 48

iii. Cohabitation and Juvenile Delinquency

A study of 74 child offenders by Sarantakos has shown that 74% come from families with cohabiting partners, while only 26% are from those with married couples. 49 Moreover, while 49% of the children from families with cohabiting couples committed two or more offences, just 21% of those from married couples committed two or more offences, and only the children from cohabiting couples committed three or more offences. 50 These findings are clearly linked to the family environments of most offenders, which are characterized by low integration, instability, domestic violence, hostile parental attitudes, parental indifference and parental conflicts. The study did not find a causal relationship between delinguency and cohabitation as a lifestyle.

VI. The role of child development in character determination

The term 'child development' denotes the healthy growth of a child, including emotional, intellectual, perceptual and behavioral capabilities.⁵¹ It is also a term referring to the scientific study of the patterns of change, growth and stability that occur from conception through to adolescence.⁵² The stages of development include the 'prenatal period' from conception to birth, the 'infancy period' from birth up to 2 years, 'early childhood' from 2 until 6 years old, 'middle childhood' from 6 to 12 years old, and 'adolescence' from 12 to 19 years old.

https://catalogue.pearsoned.ca/assets/hip/us/hip_us_pearsonhighered/samplechapter/0205959881.pdf> accessed 3 September 2018

⁴⁸ Capaldi, D.M.; Patterson, G.R. Relation of parental transitions to boy's adjustment problems: I. A linear hypothesis. II. Mothers at risk for transitions and unskilled parenting. *Dev. Psychol.* **1991**, *27*, 489–504.

⁴⁹ Sotirios Sarantakos 'Cohabitation, Marriage and Delinquency: The Significance of Family Environment' (1997) 30 The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.907.4399&rep=rep1&type=pdf > accessed 1 Sept. 2018 oid

⁵¹Overview of Child Development < https://web.sonoma.edu/users/p/pollack/edu420/overview10.web.pdf accessed 3 September 2018

⁵² An Introduction to Child Development,

According to John Watson, who is credited as being the father of American Behaviorist Theory, children are passive beings who can be molded by controlling stimulus-response associations, 53 while the U.S. Department of Education believes that children can be taught to become responsible human beings. 54 'Responsibility' has been defined by Mitton and Harris as being the capacity to make choices and to accept the consequences of those choices, so positive child development should aim to teach children to accept full responsibility for their actions 55. For the process of acquiring responsibility to be effective, children must understand the values they are being taught and must habitually apply these values to their lives. This underscores the importance of parental instruction, as children need guidance from their parents to help them succeed in tasks. According to Whitebread and Wingham, habitual success in tasks makes children successful in life. Conversely, unsuitable home conditions and an unstable family can lead to negative attitudes and habitual failure in tasks, which in turn encourages children to become delinquents 56.

Uwo et al. believe that the proper nurturing of children is the primary responsibility of parents, because the values given to children and the type of training they receive from their parents seem to largely determine their future life-style. Parents help their children establish certain behavioral attitudes, and once established these attitudes are difficult to change or suppress⁵⁷. Parents who

_

https://mascdn.azureedge.net/cms/the-money-advice-service-habit-formation-and-learning-in-young-children-may2013.pdf, [3 September 2018]

David Zembrosk Sociological Theories of Crime, 2011

⁵³ John B. Watson 'Psychology as the Behaviorist Views it' (1913) 20 Psychological Review 158-177 https://chasqueweb.ufrgs.br/~slomp/edu01011/watson-behaviorist.pdf, accessed 3 September 2018.

⁵⁴ U.S. Department of Education Office of Communications and Outreach *Helping Your Child Become a Responsible Citizen* 2005, https://www2.ed.gov/parents/academic/help/citizen/citizen.pdf, accessed 3 September 2018.

⁵⁵ Betty L Mitton and Dale B. Harris. "The Development of Responsibility in Children.", (1954)54 [5] The Elementary School Journal 268–277, www.jstor.org/stable/998563, accessed 3 September 2018.

⁵⁶ David Whitebread & Sue Bingham: Habit Formation and Learning in Young Children, 2013,

⁵⁷ Uwo, Asukwo and Ekuri, Parenting and Responsibility: Holding Parents Accountable for Children's Antisocial Practices (2008) 24[1] J. Hum. Ecol. 51 – 57,

 $[\]frac{http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.577.2263\&rep=rep1\&type=pdf,\ accessed\ 3\ September\ 2018$

instill antisocial attitudes and behaviors in their children encourage such attitudes to persist into adulthood.⁵⁸

VII. Family factors influencing delinquency

a. Parental attitudes

For children, family is the major source of companionship, affection and reassurance.⁵⁹ The nature of the relationship between parents and their children helps to determine whether a child becomes a delinquent. Affectionate, supportive, and understanding homes are likely to promote conformist and constructive social behavior, because a positive family environment leads to healthy personality development⁶⁰. Conversely, a lack of parental affection and support, or in more severe cases parental indifference, hostility or rejection, causes children to feel emotionally insecure and leads to poor personality development, thus encouraging antisocial or delinquent behavior. Negative parental attitudes often include scolding and a lack of love.⁶¹ Another negative attitude is that of authoritarian parenting, where excessive control, using harsh and strict commands, deprives children of the freedom to express themselves. The suppression of free

_

⁵⁸ Mark Chaffin et al., 'Parent-Child Interaction Therapy With Physically Abusive Parents: Efficacy for Reducing Future Abuse Reports' (2004) 72 (3) Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 500 –510, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bac7/a9089a9001c4da90d7222369faf6d7494697.pdf, accessed 3 September 2018

⁵⁹ Alok Kumar, Family Environment and Juvenile Delinquency' (2015) 1(2) < https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a560/94f9f483b03bbd66397db48f2b23aa115685.pdf, accessed 3 Sept. 2018 https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.907.4399&rep=rep1&type=pdf, accessed 1 Sept. 2018

⁶¹Onyango Daughty Akinyi *EFFECTS OF AUTHORITARIAN PARENTING MODEL ON LEARNER PARTICIPATION IN EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION SCIENCE CLASS KABONDO DIVISION, HOMABAY COUNTY*, KENYA, 2015 < <a href="http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/95154/Onyango%2C%20Daughty%20A_Effects%20of%20authoritarian%20parenting%20model%20on%20learner%20participation%20in%20early%20childhood%20education%20science%20class%20Kabondo%20division%2C%20Homabay%20county%2C%20Kenya..pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y accessed 1 Sept. 2018

expression and an absence of love encourage children to revolt against their parents, to run away from their families, and consequently to enter a life of crime.⁶²

Negative parental attitudes, including concealing information or failing to respond to questions, have been shown to induce feelings of emotional and social insecurity in children.⁶³ Such insecurity can degenerate into children developing mental problems, or can lead to delinquent behavior.

b. Level of family cohesion

Shields and Clark have noted that low levels of family cohesion are likely to lead to juvenile crime⁶⁴. Similarly, Sarantakos found that 73% of juvenile offenders came from families with low cohesion, while just 27% of offenders came from families with high cohesion. He also found that while 91 % of non-offenders came from high-cohesion families, only 9% of non-offenders came from low-cohesion families⁶⁵.

c. Physical violence

The level of violence between parents and towards their children can also influence levels of juvenile delinquency. 66 Sarantakos found that 78% of child offenders came from families that experienced physical violence and child abuse, while only 22% of child offenders came from non-violent homes. 67 Non-offenders are much more likely to come from non-violent homes than from those that are subject to physical or emotional violence.

https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.com/&httpsredir=1&article=22 43&context=jssw accessed 3 Sept. 2018

⁶² Alok Kumar ;Family Environment and Juvenile Delinquency' (2015) 1(2) < https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a560/94f9f483b03bbd66397db48f2b23aa115685.pdf accessed 3 Sept. 2018

⁶⁴Glenn Shields & Richard D. Clark 'Family Correlates of Delinquency: Cohesion And Adaptability' (1995) 22(2) The Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare <

⁶⁵ Sotirios Sarantakos 1997, see note 60

⁶⁶ Sotirios Sarantakos 1997, see note 60

⁶⁷ id

d. Uninvolved parenting

According to Hearne, 'uninvolved parenting' describes situations where parents are emotionally distant from their children and show little warmth and love towards them, provide little supervision, intentionally avoid them, have few expectations or demands for their behavior, never attend school events, and are generally too overwhelmed by their own problems to deal with their children. Sarantakos argues that juvenile offenders are more likely to come from families with uninvolved parenting than from those with interested parents. He found that approximately two thirds of offenders came from families in which the children perceived their parents to show no interest in them, while only one third of offenders came from families with parents who were interested in them. Similarly, 86% of non-offenders came from families with parents who were 'interested' in their children.

VIII. Non family factors influencing levels of juvenile delinquency

a. Poverty

Birckhead has shown that an inability to afford certain basic commodities such as food and clothing, has significantly contributed to juvenile delinquency. Areas with high rates of poverty have correspondingly high rates of juvenile delinquency. Registered juvenile delinquents are concentrated in urban areas that coincide with low poverty indices, while they are thinly scattered in better residential areas. High concentrations of juvenile delinquents can thus be found in the slums of large cities, associated with extreme levels of poverty, bad housing, overcrowding and a severe lack of recreational facilities.

⁶⁸Brittany N. Hearne *The Effect of Parenting Styles and Depressive Symptoms on Young Adult's Educational Attainment*, 2015 https://etd.library.vanderbilt.edu/available/etd-03112015-132337/unrestricted/Hearne.pdf accessed 1 Sept. 2018

⁶⁹ Sotirios Sarantakos 1997, see note 60

⁷⁰ Tamar R. Birckhead "Delinquent By Reason Of Poverty Electronic" (2012) 38 WASH .U.J.L & POL'Y _http://ssrn.com/abstract=1918331 > accessed 1 Sept. 2018

b. Lack of access to education

Lack of access to education is also a major contributor to juvenile delinquency.⁷¹ Factors preventing children gaining access to education include the costs of schooling, distance from schools, abusive or absent teachers, and poor quality teaching. A lack of education may result in desperation and idleness among children, encouraging them to engage in delinquent activities.

c. Drug Abuse

Drug abuse has been found to be a major contributor to juvenile delinquency, as drugs have a number of highly negative impacts on children. For example, children who persistently abuse drugs tend to experience learning difficulties, poor peer and family relationships and health problems.⁷² Drug abuse can also cause compulsive economic behavior, a condition in which some drug users resort to violence as a way of supporting their addiction.⁷³ Drugs can also reduce cognitive ability, thus exposing users to episodes of miscommunication and limiting their capacity for compromise and for rational dialogue.⁷⁴

d. Delinquency caused by genetic factors

Some children are born with antisocial personality disorder, a condition that is associated with abnormal/destructive thinking, perception and relationships with others. ⁷⁵ This condition is closely linked with delinquent behavior, as persons suffering from this condition have no regard for right

⁷¹Sitati Lenah Nanjala *Analysis Of The Factors Leading To Juvenile Delinquency: The Case Of Murang'a Children's Remand Home,* 2008

http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/6346/Nanjala_Analysis%20Of%20The%20Factors%20Lead ing%20To%20Juvenile%20Delinquency%20The%20Case%20Of%20Murang%E2%80%99A%20Children%E2%80%99S %20Remand%20Home..pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y> accessed 3 Sept, 2018

⁷² Petersen AC, Joseph J, Feit M,(eds). *New Directions in Child Abuse and Neglect Research*, 2014, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK195987/, accessed 3 Sept, 2018

⁷³Michael A. Powell 'A Comprehensive Analysis of the Drug-Crime Relationship' 2011

https://opensiuc.lib.siu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1059&context=gs rp, accessed 3 Sept, 2018

⁷⁴ Gould, Thomas J. "Addiction and Cognition." (2010) 5(2) Addiction Science & Clinical Practice 4–14

⁷⁵ Amanda Tufts Born to be an offender? Antisocial personality disorder and its implications on juvenile transfer to adult court in federal proceedings (2013) 71 [1] https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/46e9/61831df5b25f2abe7fe7ee5668bb649d85d5.pdf, accessed 3 sept 2018

and wrong, and often engage in drug abuse and violence, leading to them being reprimanded as juvenile delinquents.⁷⁶

IX. Conclusions

This paper seeks to assess the role of the family in contributing to juvenile delinquency. After examining the two concepts of family and juvenile delinquency, it concludes that the family has an important role in determining whether a child might engage in delinquency or antisocial acts. Owing to the centrality of families in children's lives, they play a crucial role in developing children's values, skills and sense of self. The development of children thus greatly influences their future character and the likelihood of them engaging in delinquent acts. Last and not least, it is very important to encourage the formation of parents and to promote public policies that support the family as a qualitative space for communication and affective relationships, with all that, there is urgent need of relevant strategies on Child Protection with specific focus on preventing child abuse, negligence among others which in some cases has extended to gang recruitment and access to small arms, hence juvenile delinquency.

X. Recommendations

This study makes the following recommendations:

1. The juvenile justice system ought to be remodeled to take into account the numerous factors that cause juvenile crime, and consequently offer viable and all-inclusive solutions.

⁷⁶ Ishita Aggarwal 'The Role of Antisocial Personality Disorder and Antisocial Behavior in Crime' (2013) 5[9] Inquiries Journal/Student Pulse, http://www.inquiriesjournal.com/a?id=1658, accessed 3 sept 2018

- 2. There is need for multi-sectorial engagement in offering solutions to juvenile crime. Those sectors include the community, schools, the religious communities and government authorities.
- 3. There is need for an emphasis on the importance of stable family structures as a means of offering children secure households in which they can be taught and absorb constructive social values.
- 4. Governments ought to reconsider their economic policies in order to prevent families from falling into poverty, provide decent free educational opportunities, counseling, and mentoring programs for children.

XI. Bibliography

1. ALOK KUMAR: Family Environment and Juvenile Delinquency' (2015) 1(2), https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a560/94f9f483b03bbd66397db48f2b23aa115685.pdf [3 Sept. 2018]

- AMANDA TUFTS: Born to be an offender? Antisocial personality disorder and its implications on juvenile transfer to adult court in federal proceedings (2013) 71 [1], https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/46e9/61831df5b25f2abe7fe7ee5668bb649d85d5.pdf [3 sept 2018]
- 3. AMATO, P. R.: The consequences of divorce for adults and children. *J. Marriage Fam.* 2000, 62, 1269–1287.
- 4. AN INTRODUCTION TO CHILD DEVELOPMENT: https://catalogue.pearsoned.ca/assets/hip/us/hip_us_pearsonhighered/samplechapter/0205959 881.pdf, [3 September 2018]
- ANTHONY PETROSINO, JAMES DERZON, JULIA LAVENBERG: The role of the family in Crime and Delinquency: evidence from Prior Quantitative reviews, 2011, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2623/77e9c296f552b7c958c280620a52fa3bdb60.pdf
 [3 August 2018]
- BANHAM BRIDGES.: Factors Contributing to Juvenile Delinquency [1927] 17(4) Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2038&context=jclc, [3 September 2018]
- 7. BIRCKHEAD,T. R.: "Delinquent By Reason Of Poverty Electronic" (2012) 38 WASH .U.J.L & POL'Y, http://ssrn.com/abstract=1918331, [1 Sept. 2018]
- 8. BIROLI, P.: "Health and Skill Formation in Early Childhood" UBS International Centre of economics in society. Working Paper Series No. 17, November 2016, ISSN 2296-2778, https://www.ubscenter.uzh.ch/assets/workingpapers/WP17_health_and_skill_formation_in_early_childhood.pdf, [09. Spt. 2018]
- 9. BRITTANY N. HEARNE: *The Effect of Parenting Styles and Depressive Symptoms on Young Adult's Educational Attainment*, 2015, https://etd.library.vanderbilt.edu/available/etd-03112015-132337/unrestricted/Hearne.pdf, [1 Sept. 2018]
- 10. BRUCE C. HAFEN: Bridle Your Passions: How Modern Law Can Protect the Family, 63 V ITAL S PEECHES, No. 20, at 5 (Aug. 1, 1997).
- 11. BURT, S. A; BARNES, A. R; LARSSON, H; LICHTENSTEIN, P: "Parental Divorce and Adolescent Delinquency: Ruling out the Impact of Common Genes." (2008) 44[6] Developmental psychology https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2593091, [1 Sept. 2018].
- 12. CAPALDI, D.M; PATTERSON, G.R: Relation of parental transitions to boy's adjustment problems: I. A linear hypothesis. II. Mothers at risk for transitions and unskilled parenting. *Dev. Psychol.* **1991**, *27*, 489–504.
- 13. CHILDREN'S BUREAU: 'The Role of Family in Child Development', https://www.all4kids.org/2017/12/11/role-family-child-development/, [29 August, 2018]
- 14. CONTI,T. G. & HECKMAN,J. J: The Economics of Child Well-Being, 2012, http://ftp.iza.org/dp6930.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 15. CORDELL & CORDELL: 'The Risks of Juvenile Delinquency in Children of Divorce', https://mensdivorce.com/juvenile-delinquency-children/, [1 Sept. 2018]
- 16. DAVID BLANKENHORN: Fatherless America: Confronting our most urgent Social Problem (1995) 1

- 17. DESAI (1994) cited in RAHUL SHARMA The Family and Family Structure Classification Redefined for the Current Times, 2013,
 - https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4649868/, [29 August, 2018]
- 18. JADE, E.; HEATHER R.H; & Huitt, W. 'An overview of family development' (2007) Educational Psychology Interactive. Valdosta, GA: Valdosta State University, http://www.edpsycinteractive.org/papers/family.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 19. FELSON, R B; LISKA, A.E.; SOUTH, S.J. & MCNULTY, T. L.: "The Subculture of Violence and Delinquency: Individual vs. School Context Effects." (1994) 73(1) *Social Forces* 155–173, www.jstor.org/stable/2579921, [3 August 2018]
- 20. GAIL E. JOSEPH: *Building Positive Relationships with Young Children*, http://csefel.vanderbilt.edu/modules/module1/handout5.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 21. GENNETIAN, L.A., CASTELLS, N., & MORRIS, P.: "Meeting the Basic Needs of Children: Does Income Matter?" (2010) Children and youth services review https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2913899/pdf/nihms194604.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 22. SHIELDS,G & CLARK, R. D: 'Family Correlates of Delinquency: Cohesion And Adaptability' (1995) 22(2) The Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare, https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.com/&httpsredir=1&article=2243&context=jssw, [3 Sept. 2018]
- 23. GOULD, T. J.: "Addiction and Cognition." (2010) 5(2) Addiction Science & Clinical Practice 4–14
- 24. GUYONNE KALB & JAN C. VAN OURS: Reading to Young Children: A Head-Start in Life? 2013, https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=806101124029026113091001008078030077058
 - 0080190840440011090041170071130680720701020750091220540311221201081180060950
 6910109801300808504603808109911908407112012212407509106007308511308600706401
 2085098017092083074001029076068075088064088124077031084125003&EXT=pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 25. HOWARD N. SNYDER & MELISSA SICKMUND: *Juvenile Offenders and Victims: 2006 National Report*, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED495786.pdf, [1 September 2018]
- 26. ISHITA AGGARWAL: 'The Role of Antisocial Personality Disorder and Antisocial Behavior in Crime' (2013) 5[9] Inquiries Journal/Student Pulse http://www.inquiriesjournal.com/a?id=1658, [3. Sept 2018]
- 27. JESSY BRINDA, M. 'Role of parents in inculcating values' 2016 (1) 2 JARIIE http://ijariie.com/AdminUploadPdf/ROLE_OF_PARENTS_IN_INCULCATING_VALUES_c1264.p df, [29 August, 2018]
- 28. FLOOK EAST, J: The Impact of Absent Father, Figures on Male Subjects and the Correlation to Juvenile Delinquency: Findings and Implications, 2003, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2668/4818350e43e37d63e64d2930e0444b32f888.pdf, [1 Sept. 2018].
- 29. PATTERSON JOÄN M: 'Understanding family resilience' (2002) 58(3) Journal of Clinical Psychology, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jclp.10019, [29 August, 2018]
- 30. WATSON J.B: 'Psychology as the Behaviorist Views it' (1913) 20 Psychological Review 158-177, https://chasqueweb.ufrgs.br/slomp/edu01011/watson-behaviorist.pdf, [3 September 2018].

- 31. KINSHIP & FAMILY, http://web.mnstate.edu/robertsb/380/Kinship%20&%20family.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 32. KRUTTSCHNITT, C.; WARD, D.; & SHEBLE M.A.: "Abuse-Resistant Youth: Some Factors That May Inhibit Violent Criminal Behavior." *Social Forces*, Volume 66, Issue 2, 1 December 1987, Pages 501–519, www.jstor.org/stable/2578752 https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/66.2.501, [29 August, 2018]
- 33. LIBBY G.: Families Basic Concepts, 2003, http://www.d.umn.edu/~dfalk/hbse/matrix/famconcepts.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 34. WAITE L.J: *Does Marriage Matter?* 32 D EMOGRAPHY 483, 497-98 (1995), available at http://www.jstor.org/view/00703370/di973888/97p00046/0, [08.08.2018]
- 35. LOEBER & LOEBER STOUTHAMMER: Family Factors as Correlates and Predictors of Juvenile Conduct Problems and Delinquency (From Crime and Justice, v 7, P 29-149, 1986)
- 36. LAPORTA L: Emotional Security and Attitudes In Children, 2006 < https://ll-production-uploads.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/2017/12/Emotional-Security-and-Attitudes-in-Children.pdf [29 August, 2018]
- 37. LYNN D. WARDLE: 'Children and the Future Of Marriage' (2004) 17 REGENT UNIVERSITY LAW REVIEW 280, https://www.regent.edu/acad/schlaw/student_life/studentorgs/lawreview/docs/issues/v17n2/Wardle.pdf, [31 Aug 2018]
- 38. CHAFFIN,M; SILOVSKY, F. J.; FUNDERBURK, B.; VALLE, L.A.;BRESTAN, E. V.; Tatiana BALACHOVA, T.; JACKSON, S.; LENSGRAF, J.; & BONNER, B.: 'Parent Child Interaction Therapy With Physically Abusive Parents: Efficacy for Reducing Future Abuse Reports' (2004) 72 (3) Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 500 –510, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bac7/a9089a9001c4da90d7222369faf6d7494697.pdf [3 September 2018]
- 39. MELLO, D. F; PEREIRA HENRIQUE, N. C; PANCIERI, L; VERÍSSIMO, M. Ó, R.; PAMPLONA TONETE, V. L; MALONE, M.: 'Child safety from the perspective of essential needs' (2014) 22(4) Rev. Latino-Am. Enfermagem, http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rlae/v22n4/0104-1169-rlae-22-04-00604.pdf, [29 August, 2018]
- 40. MCLANAHAN, S.; & SANDEFUR, G.: *Growing up with a Single Parent: What Hurts, What Helps*; Harvard University Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 1994.
- 41. MITTON, B. L., & Dale B. H.: "The Development of Responsibility in Children." (1954)54 [5] The Elementary School Journal 268–277 www.jstor.org/stable/998563, [3 September 2018].
- 42. NTARANGWI, M. "Introduction: Parents' Involvement in Children's Lives in Africa." (2012) 37 (3), Africa Development / Afrique et Dévelopment, 1–18, www.jstor.org/stable/afrdevafrdev.37.3.1.
- 43. OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS: Families, 2005,

 <a href="https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiAjZ_6x6HdAhXiyYUKHb6fDN8QFjAEegQIBhAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ons.gov.uk%2Fons%2Frel%2Ffamily-demography%2Ffocus-on-families%2F2005%2Ffocus-on-families-2005-summary-report.pdf&usg=AOvVaw18FrczKa8M6Tramp4IDp7T, [29 August, 2018]
- 44. ONYANGO, D. A.: Effects of Authoritarian parenting model on learner participation in early childhood education science class Kabondo Division, Homabay County, Kenya 2015, Overview

- of Child Development, https://web.sonoma.edu/users/p/pollack/edu420/overview10.web.pdf, [3 September 2018]
- 45. PETERSEN, A.C; JOSEPH, J, & FEIT, M, (eds).: *New Directions in Child Abuse and Neglect Research*, 2014, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK195987/, [3 Sept, 2018]
- 46. POWELL, M. A. 'A Comprehensive Analysis of the Drug-Crime Relationship' 2011, https://opensiuc.lib.siu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1059&context=gs_rp, [3 Sept, 2018]
- 47. STEINMETZ, S. K. & STEIN, K. F. Stein 'Traditional and Emerging Families A Typology Based on Structures and Functions' (1998) Family Science Review, http://www.familyscienceassociation.org/sites/default/files/Vol%201%20No%202%20Article%20 2.PDF, DOI: 10.26536/FSR.1988.01.02.02, [29 August, 2018]
- 48. SITATI, L.N: Analysis Of The Factors Leading To Juvenile Delinquency: The Case Of Murang'a Children's Remand Home, 2008,

 <a href="http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/6346/Nanjala_Analysis%20Of%20The%20Factors%20Leading%20To%20Juvenile%20Delinquency%20The%20Case%20Of%20Murang %E2%80%99A%20Children%E2%80%99S%20Remand%20Home..pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, [3 Sept, 2018]
- 49. SOTIRIOS SARANTAKOS 'Cohabitation, Marriage and Delinquency: The Significance of Family Environment' (1997) 30 The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.907.4399&rep=rep1&type=pdf, [1 Sept. 2018]
- 50. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OFFICE OF COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH: Helping Your Child Become a Responsible Citizen 2005, https://www2.ed.gov/parents/academic/help/citizen/citizen.pdf, [3 September 2018].
- 51. UN FACT SHEET ON JUVENILE JUSTICE: (undated)

 http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/wyr11/FactSheetonYouthandJuvenileJustice.pd
 f, [3 August 2018]
- 52. UNESCO: The changing family in Asia: Bangladesh, India, Japan, Philippines and Thailand, 1992
- 53. UNITED NATIONS GENERAL ASSEMBLY: Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (Riyadh Guidelines), 1990

 <a href="https://www.crin.org/en/docs/resources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedNationsGuidelinesfortheonerresources/publications/hrbap/IHCRC/UnitedN
- 54. URIE BRONFENBRENNER: Discovering what families can do, *in* REBUILDING THE NEST: A NEW COMMITMENT TO THE AMERICAN FAMILY (1990) 34
- 55. UWO, ASUKWO & EKURI: Parenting and Responsibility: Holding Parents Accountable for Children's Antisocial Practices (2008) 24[1] J. Hum. Ecol. 51 57, http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.577.2263&rep=rep1&type=pdf, [3 September 2018]
- 56. VAN DE WEIJER, S.; BIJLEVELD, C.; BLOKLAND, A. & THORNBERRY, T.P.: 'The Effects of Parental Divorce on the Intergenerational Transmission of Crime' (2015) Societies 89–108, <a href="https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj_6cih8pndAhUOTBoKHSg6DAAQFjACegQIBxAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.mdpi.com%2F2075-4698%2F5%2F1%2F89%2Fpdf&usg=AOvVaw08biczazJOayjnjkPtr06v, [1 Sept. 2018]

- 57. WHITEBREAD, D & BINGHAM, S: *Habit Formation and Learning in Young Children*, 2013, https://mascdn.azureedge.net/cms/the-money-advice-service-habit-formation-and-learning-in-young-children-may2013.pdf, [3 September 2018]
- 58. WSCONSIN FAMILY IMPACT SEMINARS, https://www.purdue.edu/hhs/hdfs/fii/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/s_wifis01c02.pdf, [29 August, 2018
- 59. WORLD YOUTH REPORT: *Juvenile Delinquency* (2003), http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/ch07.pdf, [3 August 2018]
- 60. ZEMBROSK, D.: Sociological Theories of Crime, 2011
 https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5f27/920a8cc1103a950d33e95b64b1a09e98dee0.pdf, [3

 August 2018]
- 61. ZIPPORAH WANGECI: Factors Influencing Juvenile Delinquency at Eldoret Juvenile Remand Home, Kenya, 2017, http://ir.mu.ac.ko:8080/ymlui/bitstroam/bandlo/123456780/833/Pwongo% 20% 207ipporab, East

http://ir.mu.ac.ke:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/832/Rwengo%2C%20Zipporah_Factors%20%20Influencing%20Juvenile%20Delinquency%20at%20Eldoret%20Juvenile%20Remand%20Home%2C%20Kenya.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, [3 August 2018]

Appendix 1 International Instruments for Protecting the Rights of Children in Conflict with the Law

The key principles of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child include respect for the best interests of the child, the rights of the child for life, survival and development, non-discrimination and active participation in all the relevant procedures. In line with the said principles, a juvenile offender must enjoy full respect for their human rights as guaranteed by the Constitution, law and applicable international regulations, just like all juveniles under the jurisdiction of their respective states. International instruments for the protection of children in conflict with the law emphasize the need to observe the principle of proportionality, which means that any reactions to a juvenile offender must be in proportion to their background and the nature of the crime committed. They must take into account not only the gravity of the delinquent act(s) but also the profile of the juvenile offender. International standards invite states to avoid as far as possible any resort to formal proceedings or trial by a court of law in all cases involving juvenile offenders, taking into account the observance of their human rights.

The rights of juvenile offenders are defined by a wide range of international instruments, which indicates that there is a need to devote special attention to these juveniles and to ensure minimum guarantees for the protection of their rights. These instruments include: Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989), UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice, Beijing Rules (1985), UN Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency, Rhiad Guidelines (1990), UN Rules on the Protection of Juveniles in Custody (1990), Guidelines for the Treatment of Juveniles within Juvenile Justice, Vienna Guidelines (1997), UN Standard Minimum Rules for Non-custodial Measures, Tokyo Rules (1990), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, ICCPR (1966), European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (1953), Council of Europe Social Reaction to Juvenile Delinquency, 1987/(CER(87)20), European Rules on Social Sanctions and Measures

(1992)/(CER(92) 16), and Council of Europe Social Reaction to Juvenile Delinquency of Juveniles from Migrant Families, 1989/(CER(88)6).

Unlike the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights represent rules and guidelines that are not legally binding in nature but serve as good guidance for the direction in which states should develop their juvenile justice systems.

The rights of the child are defined in the 1989 UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, which is the first international agreement dealing with the comprehensive protection of children's rights. The Convention is an instruction on how children are to be treated and protected, while a special international body of the UN, the Committee for the Rights of the Child, oversees the implementation of the Convention in the countries that have ratified it. The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child is an integral part of the internal legal system of the countries that have ratified it, and has supremacy over older national legislation, together with other ratified international instruments. The Convention on the Rights of the Child offers a completely new attitude towards children, with an aim to further the status of children in the world. The child is viewed as a human being with its own needs and opinions, which plays an active role in all the activities and issues relevant for its wellbeing.

Statement of authorship

1. I declare that this article is my original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for

examination, award of a degree or publication. Where other people's work, or my own

work has been used, this has properly been acknowledged and referenced in accordance

with the requirements.

2. I have not sought or used the services of any professional agencies to produce this work

3. I have not allowed, and shall not allow anyone to copy my work with the intention of

passing it off as his/her own work

4. I understand that any false claim in respect of this work shall result in disciplinary action,

in accordance with the Plagiarism Policy.

0

Signature.pdf

Signature

Date: 14. 09.2018

Anti-plagiarism pledge

I declare that this article is my original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for

examination, award of a degree or publication. Where other people's work or my own work has

been used, this has properly been acknowledged and referenced in accordance with the

requirements.

27